FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/8/2025 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1041632

No. 406962

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III

TAYLOR RAE MCAVOY, Petitioner/Appellant

V.

ALEXANDER THOMAS SIEG, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Taylor McAvoy, Petitioner/Appellant

Address: PO BOX 257, PMB 10774 Olympia, WA,

98507

Phone: (509) 949-8320

Petition for Review

I. Introduction

RAP 13.3(a) states: A party may seek discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court of a Court of Appeals' decision. I am seeking the Supreme Court of Washington's review of the Division III Appellate Court's decision in this case.

Statement of facts

This case began on May 3rd 2024 with a temporary protection order due to sexual assault (CP 31-41) from Thurston County Family and Juvenile Court by Commissioner Rebekah Zinn. On May 30th, 2024, this protection order was granted on preponderance of the evidence for one year (CP 90-100) in the same court. On August 29th, 2024 there was a hearing on the respondent's motion for revision, revision was granted by a visiting Judge from Lewis County, and a denial order entered. I appealed this decision (see appellant's brief). The Court of Appeals Division III denied the appeal in a letter on April 17th 2025. I submitted a motion for reconsideration which the appeals court also denied on April 29th 2025.

I am seeking the Supreme Court of Washington's review due to several factors, 1) sexual assault is clear in this case and outlined in both parties testimonies agreeing that sexual assault did, in fact, happen (RP 5/30/24 1-38), 2) the respondent engaged in threatening behavior after the assault in question (RP 5/30/24 1-38), 3) any sexual assault is grounds for a DVPO, (RCW 7.105.010(9)(a), 4) the appellate court wrote in their letter that they did not consider the lower court's ruling only the superior court's potential abuse of discretion. The lower court made the correct ruling on May 30th 2024 based on the language of the law and the facts of the case at hand (RP 90-100, RP 5/30/24 1-38), and 5) I am asking the supreme court to consider whether the commissioner made the correct ruling on May 30th 2024 and respond with opinion as well as respond with issuing a protection order for the following year.

II. Assignments of Error

1. The lower court made the correct ruling granting a protection order on May 30th, 2024. The appeals court did not assess or fully consider the commissioner's ruling,

- only the superior court's ruling and wrote this explanation in their letter (CP opinion 4/17/25).
- 2. The appeals court in their letter, uses inappropriate language, characterizing subjective language as statement of fact (example, "intimate misunderstanding") (CP opinion 4/17/25).
- 3. Regardless of the appeals court finding a lack of abuse of discretion by the superior court, a protection order should still have been entered because it was already determined that sexual assault did occur.

III. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Was the court commissioner correct in granting a protection order for one year based on documentation, testimony on May 30th and preponderance of the evidence?
- 2. Does the court concur that sexual assault occurred based on the facts of the case after reviewing court transcripts from May 30th 2024 and August 29th 2024?

3. Can the court issue a protection order for the following year based on the facts of the case?

IV. Argument for review

As stated above, RAP 13.3(a) states: A party may seek discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court of a Court of Appeals' decision. This case warrants the Supreme Court's discretion due its nature surrounding the sexual assault at hand and due to a significant safety risk that this process has posed to me, the petitioner.

The lower court made the correct ruling granting a protection order on May 30th, 2024. The appeals court did not assess or fully consider the commissioner's ruling, only the superior court's ruling and wrote this explanation in their letter (CP opinion 4/17/25).

Evidence based on both parties' written documentation and verbal testimony in a hearing on May 30th 2024 support that on preponderance of the evidence Mr. Sieg engaged in unwanted sexual misconduct (RP 05/30/24 28-31). The commissioner in that hearing ruled on that evidence and issued

a protection order for one year following. This was revised by a visiting judge who did not engage in due process and later upheld on appeal.

The commissioner during the original ruling, conducted extensive questioning of both parties on May 30th 2024 and provided a detailed breakdown of RCW 7.105.010 explaining how, under preponderance of the evidence, consent was not met (RP 05/30/24 28-31). The commissioner examines the words used in both testimonies and states "I am not interpreting whatever either of you said to be actual words saying take the condom off, you cannot use a condom" (RP 05/30/24 30). Then she addresses conduct stating "According to Mr. Sieg, there was 15 or 20 seconds that passed, there were some things going on, and Ms. McAvoy could see what was happening potentially and didn't stop it. According to Ms. McAvoy, she couldn't see. She didn't know what was going on. And actually, that's consistent with what both of you said" (RP 05/30/24 30). She notes that the respondent claims the assault was in error saying "Mr. Sieg apologized and he acknowledged something went wrong. I thought you gave permission. You didn't give, you're

saying you didn't give permission. So, I'm turning to the sentence very strongly, 'Conduct short of voluntary agreement does not constitute consent as a matter of law.' There was not voluntary agreement. Both of you seem to acknowledge that." (RP 05/30/24 31). She ultimately stated "We don't have a word—actual words that give permission to do this. And we don't have conduct that is voluntary agreement. What that all adds up to is that this was a sexual assault" (RP 05/30/24 31).

The visiting judge, Judge Lawler from Lewis County, in the following hearing a few months later did not apply the same discretion to the case asking the respondent follow up questions but asking me, the petitioner, no other questions (RP 08/29/24 20-21), used degrading language, and demonstrated bias, all detailed in my brief to the court of appeals (See appellant's brief). Frankly, the judge had already made up his mind before that hearing began. Additionally, the judge struck all of the respondent's arguments for the revision yet still ruled in the respondent's favor without offering additional explanation (RP 08/29/24 21-32).

Additionally, RCW 7.113.010 went into effect July 1st of 2024. It adds language around sexually protective devices like condoms. It says that "A person who engaged in sexual contact or sexual penetration with another person may bring a civil action against that other person if prior to sexual contact or sexual penetration both persons understood and agreed that a sexually protective device would be used and the other person; (a) engaged or continued to engage in sexual contact or sexual penetration after the other person; (i) removed the sexually protective device without consent of the person bringing the action; or (ii) knew or became aware that the sexually protective device had been unintentionally removed, but did not obtain consent from the person bringing the action to engage or continue engaging in sexual contact or sexual penetration without the use of a sexually protective device"

Both the respondent and I agree that we had a conversation about using a condom before the sexual interaction began (RP 05/30/24 9-18). The respondent also agrees that he was wearing a condom when the sexual encounter began (RP 05/30/24 16) indicating in his behavior

that he understood what the limitation was. RCW 7.113.010 makes it clear that even if the respondent made a mistake and misinterpreted something I said as he claims, he should have sought consent before continuing with the action as a matter of law.

Finally, RCW 7.105.010 defines consent as (5)

"Consent" in the context of sexual acts means that at the time of sexual contact, there are actual words or conduct indicating freely given agreement to that sexual contact. Consent must be ongoing and may be revoked at any time. Conduct short of voluntary agreement does not constitute consent as a matter of law." The respondent did not engage in ongoing consent, as the commissioner ruled on May 30th 2024. The respondent also agrees that sexual contact stopped for an extended period of time in which there was no consent to continue in any capacity regardless of the issue of a sexually protective device (RP 05/30/24 1-30).

V. Conclusion

In summary, the revising judge made an error in granting the respondent's motion for revision on the protection order previously granted. The respondent did not meet burden of proof for establishing the original ruling was in error as the revising judge struck the respondent's arguments regarding issues of consent. The revising judge did not provide any basis or details for his decision about why he found insufficient evidence. There was an act of domestic violence in the form of sexual assault under preponderance of the evidence that was made clear in areas in which both party's testimonies align and analysis of the RCWs involving sexual conduct proves consent was not met. I ask the court to consider the lower court's opinion and experience in matters like these and determine that the lower court did, in fact, make the correct ruling. I ask the court to issue a protection order for the following year.

~	4 /4		20	
0	rtifica	to at	10	13/100
	LULIVA	LU UI		TAICO

I certify that on the 7th day of Moy, 2024,

I caused a true and correct copy of this Statement of

Arrangements to be served on the following in the manner

indicated below:

Name (Alexander Sieg)

Email: alexander.t.sieg@gmail.com