FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/19/2025 4:25 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/19/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 406962

Case #: 1041632

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAYLOR RAE MCAVOY,

Petitioner,

v.

ALEXANDER THOMAS SIEG,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALEXANDER T. SIEG WSBA No. 55712 4017 56th Trail SE Olympia, WA 98501-5113 (612) 396-3438 Alexander.t.sieg@gmail.com

III.	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE		
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT4		
	A.	The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With	
		Washington Precedent4	
	В.	There Is No Significant Question of Law Under	
		the State or Federal Constitutions6	
	C.	The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue of	
		Substantial Public Interest	
V.	CON	CLUSION8	
APPI	ENDIX	\langle	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Faciszewki v. Brown,

187 Wn.2d 308, 313 n.2, 386 P.3d 711 (2016)

In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

Perez v. Garcia, 148 Wash.App.131, 198 P.3d 539 (2009).

Rodriguez v. Zavala, 188 Wash.2d 586, 398 P.3d 1071 (2017).

Constitutional Provisions

Wash. Const. art IV, § 23.

Statutes

RCW 2.24.050.

Rules

RAP 13.3(a).

RAP 13.4(b).

I. INTRODUCTION

On motion of the Respondent, a superior court correctly granted revision and denied a DVPO requested by the Petitioner for failing to prove their allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Petitioner appealed, seeking review of the superior court's denial.

The Division III Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the superior court's revision order denying a DVPO for an abuse of discretion, found no abuse of discretion, and affirmed. The superior court's decision was within the range of acceptable choices and the result was fairly reached.

Petitioner now seeks review of Division III's unpublished opinion, without identifying any considerations governing acceptance for review. Instead—as with their brief on appeal—Petitioner attempts to relitigate the findings of fact and conclusions of law issued by the superior court based on the oral ruling of the commissioner the court correctly revised.

This Court should deny review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether this Court should deny review where the Petition for Review does not state or meet any of the Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner and Respondent had a romantic relationship for over a year, but an intimate misunderstanding led to their breakup. 1 CP at 51-53. At first the break-up was amicable, but as the relationship unraveled, Petitioner made various requests of Respondent, some of which they fulfilled, others not. CP at 53-86. Petitioner perceived Respondent declining their requests as controlling and petitioned for a protection order. CP at 1-29.

A temporary domestic violence protection order ("DVPO") was issued by a court commissioner ("the commissioner") on Petitioner's request and later reissued as

2

¹ The details of this misunderstanding from the Statement of Facts in Respondent's Appellate Brief are omitted here due to their intimate nature. Procedural facts have also largely been curtailed as the procedural arguments raised by Petitioner at the Court of Appeals are absent from their Petition for Review.

Petitioner did not attempt to serve Respondent until the same day the second order was entered. CP at 31-41, 43-49. The commissioner granted the petition, entering a DVPO for one year. CP at 90-100.

Respondent timely moved for revision and the superior court granted the motion after a full and fair hearing, denying any protection order on the merits. CP at 107-110, 114-119, 347-356. Petitioner was advised of their right to appeal and of the appellate process, but immediately attempted to file for a new protection order the next day in front of a different judicial officer and was denied. CP at 357-375, 377-384.

Petitioner then appealed the superior court's orders to the Division II Court of Appeals and Division II transferred to Division III for expedite review. App. at 1-2. The Division III Court of Appeals reviewed the superior court's denial of a DVPO for an abuse of discretion, found no abuse of discretion, and affirmed. App. at 3-9. And denied reconsideration. App at 10-11.

Petitioner now Petitions for Review.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner seeks review under RAP 13.3(a), but does not state what, if any, considerations under RAP 13.4(b) their petition meets. Petition for Review at 3-9. Review should be denied because the Petition for Review does not state or meet any of the Considerations Governing Acceptance for Review under Washington's Rules of Appellate Procedure.

A petition for review is accepted by the Washington Supreme Court only if: the appellate court's decision conflicts with Supreme Court or a published Court of Appeals precedent; there is a significant question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions; or there is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Washington Precedent.

This Court should deny review because Petitioner does not state how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with either a

decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Petition for Review at 3-9. And it does not.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the superior court's denial of a DVPO for an abuse of discretion, found no abuse of discretion, and affirmed. App. at 5-8. In doing so, Division III correctly reviewed the superior court's ruling rather than the commissioner's—under Washington precedent. Faciszewki v. Brown, 187 Wn.2d 308, 313 n.2, 386 P.3d 711 (2016). It correctly applied the legal standard for review under Washington precedent. Rodriguez v. Zavala, 188 Wash.2d 586, 590, 398 P.3d 1071 (2017). And it correctly found there was no abuse of discretion because the superior court's finding was within the range of acceptable choices, which is the correct legal analysis under Washington precedent. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wash.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

As with the revising superior court below, there is no indication the Court of Appeals misunderstood the law or applied the wrong legal standards in its review. Therefore, this Court

should deny review because Petitioner does not state how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with either a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals and it does not.

B. There Is No Significant Question of Law Under the State or Federal Constitutions.

This Court should deny review because Petitioner does not state or show a significant question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions. Petition for Review at 3-9. And there is not.

Here, neither party raised a federal constitutional question and the only thing resembling a question—let alone a significant one—concerning the Washington State Constitution was whether a superior court has the authority to review the records of a case and a commissioner's findings of fact and conclusions of law. It is well settled that the superior court has that authority under Washington's State Constitution. Wash. Const. art IV, § 23. And state law. RCW 2.24.050. And precedent. Perez v.

Garcia, 148 Wash.App.131, 138, 198 P.3d 539 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 2 2009). So if that is the question, it has already been answered.

Therefore, this Court should deny review because Petitioner does not state or show a significant question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions and there is not one.

C. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

This Court should deny review because Petitioner does not state or show there is an issue of substantial public interest.

Petition for Review at 3-9. And there is not.

Here, the order reviewed is the superior court's denial of a DVPO between the Petitioner and Respondent, based on Petitioner's failure to prove their allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. App. at 5-8. It is not only highly fact-specific, which renders review purely for public guidance less fruitful, but the underlying facts concern intimate acts between parties that are anything but of public interest. They are arguably the most

by the Court of Appeals' decision to omit the intimate details of the parties' misunderstanding out of decorum and respect, as well as its decision not to print its opinion in the Washington Appellate Reports. App. at 2-3, 9.

Therefore, this Court should deny review because Petitioner does not state or show there is an issue of substantial public interest and there is not.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the superior court's denial of a DVPO for an abuse of discretion, found no abuse of discretion, and affirmed. This Court should deny review because the Petition for Review does not state or show how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with either a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions, or an issue of substantial public interest.

This document contains 1288 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.